



  [image: cover]










   




   




   




   


  

   


  

  COCHRANE




  BRITANNIA’S SEA WOLF




   




   




   




   




  DONALD THOMAS


  

   




   




   




   






  CASSELL




  





   




   




   




   


  

   


  

  For my Father and Marion




  





   




   




   




   




  Contents




   




  [image: ]




   




   




   




   




  Cover




  



  Title page




  Dedication




  List of Maps


  

   




  PREFACE




   




  1 The Lords of Culross




  2 Steering to Glory




  3 “A Sink of Corruption”




  4 “Excessive Use of Powder and Shot”




  5 In the Face of the Enemy




  6 “Announce Lord Cochrane’s Degradation”




  7 The Devil’s Admiral




  8 Under Two Flags




  9 See, the Conquering Hero Comes!




   




  NOTES




  BIBLIOGRAPHY




  INDEX


  

   


  

  Also by Donald Thomas


  

  List of Plates


  

    Plates




  Copyright




  





   




   




   




   




  List of Maps




   




  [image: ]




   




   


     




   




  The Basque Roads, April 1809




  South America 1818-1825




  Valdivia, February 1820




  





   




   




   




   




  
Preface




   




  [image: ]




   




   




   




   




  THE life of Thomas, Lord Cochrane, later 10th Earl of Dundonald, is more extraordinary than that of Nelson, and more far-fetched than anything which the

  late C. S. Forester permitted Horatio Hornblower. With a brig-sloop, which The Times later described as half the size of the smallest Victorian naval tug, he harried the French and Spanish

  shipping of the Mediterranean, seizing over fifty vessels, one of them a powerful frigate, many times the size of his own warship and carrying over three hundred seamen and marines. As a frigate

  captain himself, he kept the French coast in turmoil and, with his single ship, halted the main French advance into Catalonia for over a fortnight. With his explosion vessels and fire-ships at the

  Basque Roads, he reduced the French fleet to an array of stranded hulls, helpless before the guns of the British squadron.1




  Such exploits might, perhaps, make him little more than a Hornblower who had stepped from the pages of fiction into the centre of Napoleonic sea warfare. Unlike his fictional counterpart,

  however, Cochrane entered parliament and became a Radical reformer, a quarter of a century before the Reform Bill of 1832. As a democrat and an opponent of wholesale official corruption, he fought

  the Admiralty administration and the naval system as determinedly as he fought the French. By his account, these enemies revenged themselves on him by means of forged charts to secure his naval

  disgrace, and by a carefully organised prosecution to convict him as one of the principal movers of the greatest Stock Exchange fraud of the century.




  That he should have survived imprisonment as a felon, then established his innocence, and ended his long life as admiral of the fleet is more than most works of fiction could accommodate. They

  would hardly risk including in addition the account of his campaigns as a mercenary admiral, in the service of liberty, in the Pacific, the Atlantic, and the Mediterranean, or his achievements in

  setting free more territory than Napoleon conquered. After so much, it seems hardly surprising that he should also have devised plans for poison gas and saturation bombardment, offering them to the

  Prince Regent in 1812, the year in which the waltz was first introduced into the ballrooms of London.




  His personal enmities were fierce and prolonged, their nature being indicated by the presence of two senior admirals, the senior admiralty civil servant, and a lord chief justice as his

  principal antagonists. A century after the events had taken place, the grandson of Lord Chief Justice Ellenborough was still trying to demonstrate that despite the public vindication of

  Cochrane’s innocence he was, after all, guilty of the great Stock Exchange fraud.




  Even in our time, reactions to Cochrane remain strong. John Gore, the most recent editor of Thomas Creevey’s papers, describes Cochrane in that work as “one of the most splendid

  naval commanders that ever paced a quarter-deck”. This was very much the view of Cochrane’s later contemporaries in the Victorian period. At the other extreme, Doris Langley Moore in

  The Late Lord Byron describes him as “mercenary and dilatory” and as “the grasping admiral, whose numberless postponements of action are a curiosity of naval

  history”. No one could have been more surprised by this last judgement than Cochrane’s contemporary critics, whose general complaint was that he was all too ready to attack

  precipitately and take unacceptable risks. It was discipline rather than impetuousness, which Cochrane lacked in the view of his Victorian biographer J. W. Fortescue, who rather quaintly suggested

  that many of his hero’s problems might have been solved if only he had had a public school education.2




  As in the case of so many biographical subjects, each age has seen in Cochrane what it has wanted to. His immediate contemporaries regarded him as a splendid national advertisement for superior

  British seamanship. The Radicals cheered him as a champion of democracy, Scott and the Romantics saluted him as the liberator of nations oppressed by foreign rule. To the Victorians, he was the

  supreme example of the hero of a boys’ adventure story brought to life. It is no coincidence that Captain Marryat, who served as a midshipman under his command, used Cochrane’s exploits

  as the subject-matter of some of his fiction. His guilt or innocence of the Stock Exchange fraud remains ultimately beyond proof or disproof, but his Victorian admirers thought such a crime morally

  impossible in so fine a man. The controversy was not settled, however, since a later generation still found the figure of the flawed hero more psychologically interesting than the unblemished

  variety.




  In modern terms, Cochrane is perhaps most illuminating when seen against the social panorama of his age and in the full dimensions of his naval, political and personal

  life. Directly or obliquely, his story lives in the poetry of Scott or Moore, the diaries of Creevey, the letters of William Beckford, the novels of Marryat, as much as in the despatches of the

  time, the court reports, or the contemporary press. One of the most important documents is the Autobiography of a Seaman, written in the last months of his life. As an old and dying man,

  he used a professional writer, G. B. Earp, to assist him. Inevitably, the question was raised as to how much of the book was Cochrane’s and how much Earp’s. Fortunately, the more

  important sections can be checked against the logs of the Pallas and the Imperieuse, the reports of the Naval Chronicle, naval despatches, transcripts of trials, and

  independent contemporary accounts. By this test, the Autobiography is fair and accurate in its account of the naval career. For the disputes with the Admiralty, and particularly the

  controversy over the Stock Exchange trial, it is inevitably a partisan document, whether Cochrane wrote it himself or it was written by Earp from his dictation or notes. In the case of

  Cochrane’s Narrative of Services in the Liberation of Chili, Peru, and Brazil, there is corroboration of its events in the memoirs of William Miller, W. B. Stevenson, and other

  witnesses of the campaign against the Spanish in Chile and Peru.




  In writing the present account of Cochrane’s life, I have been most grateful for the assistance given by a number of libraries and institutions. My thanks are particularly due to the

  Bodleian Library, Oxford; Bristol Central Library; the British Library, Departments of Manuscripts and Printed Books, and the Newspaper Library, Colindale; Cardiff Central Library; the London

  Library; the Ministry of Defence Library; the National Library of Scotland; the National Maritime Museum; the Public Record Office; the library of University College, London; the University

  Library, London, and the library of the University of Wales Institute of Science and Technology.




  Finally, I must acknowledge the advice and help of Mr Piers Burnett, Mr Michael Thomas, and Mr Alan Williams at various stages of the writing of the book, and my wife’s enthusiasm during

  its long completion.
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  IN the last years of the eighteenth century, when the vogue for picturesque and romantic scenery coloured the middle-class view of nature, the bay of

  Culross was reckoned to be well worth a visit. Some of its admirers swore that it matched anything to be found on the Rhine. A dozen miles above Edinburgh, the northern shore of the Firth of Forth

  broke into a series of wooded bays, set in the hills of Kinross. In deep green billows, the foliage rose like a leafy, undulating wall from the dark rocks of the foreshore. Sloping gardens and

  rustic cottages, which were more romantic to view than to inhabit, marked the road where market carts and occasional carriages rumbled between Kincardine and Rosyth.




  Above the bay of Culross, the ridge of the hill was distinguished by the fine south front of Culross Abbey. Its Renaissance façade and corner turrets, in so leafy a setting, suggested one

  of the smaller châteaux of the Loire. The house had been begun in 1608, from designs by Inigo Jones, and had been commissioned by Edward Bruce, lawyer, diplomat, and Master of the Rolls.

  True, it was not a real abbey of the sort made so thrillingly fashionable by the Gothick novels of the 1780s and 1790s. Yet it adjoined the ruins of the original Cistercian monastery, which

  Malcolm, Earl of Fife, had founded in 1217. Young ladies and gentlemen of sensibility, seeing Culross on a stormy night, the wind chasing the clouds across the sky, the moon glimmering fitfully on

  water, dark trees, and mediaeval ruins, were transported from reality to the fantasies of Mrs Radcliffe and her followers, whose three-volume “horrid novels” were the current sensation

  of circulating libraries in Edinburgh and London.




  However, behind the charming view there lay a changing and often disagreeable reality. Like so many great houses, this one had been built at the height of a family’s fortunes and had

  descended to those who could ill support its expenses.




  The splendour of the Inigo Jones house was not disputed. Among the fine drawing rooms of the first floor, with their spacious long gallery, was an apartment hung with

  Gobelins tapestries. Here the King, who was both James VI of Scotland and James I of England, was royally entertained in 1617. The Bruce family in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries had been

  men of business and figures of political influence, the creators of wealth and the arbiters of policy. But their line dwindled until only one daughter remained at Culross, Lady Elizabeth Bruce. She

  married William Cochrane of Ochiltree and bore him a son who inherited Culross. Indeed, he inherited more than that. His Cochrane kinsmen had been Earls of Dundonald since 1648 when the title was

  conferred on Sir William Cochrane, a loyal supporter of Charles I, by the hard-pressed King. In 1758, the 7th Earl had gone to Canada on General Wolfe’s staff, in the campaign to drive the

  French from the St Lawrence settlements. A few months later, news came to Culross that the Earl had been killed in the preliminary assault on Louisberg. Major Cochrane of Culross was now the 8th

  Earl of Dundonald.




  When the Bruces were succeeded by the Cochranes, the men of business and law gave way to those who for five centuries or more had known little but the arts of war, by land and sea. In previous

  reigns, their abilities had been highly esteemed, bringing them rewards or favours from their royal masters. But in the age of the House of Hanover, as the power of patronage passed into

  ministerial hands, such rewards were few and the favours short-lived. Still the Cochranes lived and died in the old profession of their ancestors, as though the new era of commerce and

  parliamentary influence had not come into being. Three of them died in Marlborough’s wars, then the 7th Earl fell at Louisberg and Colonel Charles Cochrane, son of the 8th Earl, was killed at

  Yorktown in the last stages of the American War of Independence, having been aide-de-camp to Cornwallis.




  For the most part, the Cochranes attained modest rank and little fame. Their choice of life, as Samuel Johnson termed it, was unfortunate. Commerce, industry and invention were creating the new

  wealth of the eighteenth century. The profession of arms might be admired in moments of national peril, tolerated when necessary, but was mostly regarded with priggish contempt.




  After enjoying his earldom for twenty years, Major Cochrane of Culross died in 1778. The abbey and its estates passed to his son, Archibald Cochrane, as 9th Earl of Dundonald. The new Earl was

  thirty years old. His son, whose naval career was to begin so inauspiciously in 1793, was almost three. The 9th Earl also brought to Culross his beautiful but delicate wife

  Anna, who bore him four sons, the survivors of her seven pregnancies.




  The misfortunes of the new generation at Culross began early. Anna died in 1784, after ten years during which she had been pregnant more often than not. The widowed Earl, increasingly

  preoccupied by expedients to save the estate from bankruptcy, handed over the care and education of his four sons to a series of hired tutors. Pedagogues of all sorts came and went with

  disconcerting rapidity. As a rule they were remembered more for their personal oddities than for any learning which they imparted. Young Thomas Cochrane was much impressed by a French tutor,

  Monsieur Durand, who was a Catholic and refused to set foot inside the kirk. Worse still, he caused outrage among the suspicious Presbyterians by interrupting their Sunday devotions with the sound

  of gunfire, as he opened hostilities from the churchyard against the magpies who were stripping the Culross cherry orchards while the owners prayed. Other tutors were less engaging and were

  remembered without affection. There was one pedant whom Thomas Cochrane could only recall as the man who had boxed his ears for asking the difference between an interjection and a conjunction.

  Seventy years later, Cochrane admitted that this response had permanently extinguished all his remaining interest in philology.1




  The young Thomas Cochrane, who assumed the courtesy title of Lord Cochrane, as his father’s heir, had little systematic education. On the other hand, he was well informed in history and

  practical science. He showed a natural aptitude and enthusiasm for learning, with a mind whose strong alliance of intellectual power and quick imagination was to make him an equally formidable

  opponent in war or politics. His sense of history and locality was naturally developed by an interest in his own ancestors and in the events which had made Culross both famous and infamous. The

  journey to Rosyth was enlivened by the sight of the remote crossroads where John Blackadder, Laird of Tulliallan, had lain in wait for the Abbot of Culross, Sir James Inglis, in 1530, and had

  treacherously murdered him. In Culross itself was the spot where, in 1038, King Duncan of Scotland had fought a desperate defensive battle against the invading Danes. Defeated at last, the King

  withdrew towards Perth, accompanied by the one man whose loyalty had never yet failed, his commander-in-chief, Macbeth.2




  The Cochranes of the eleventh century perhaps fought on the other side at Culross. According to family tradition, they were “sea rovers” from Scandinavia

  whom the fortunes of war brought to Scotland. It was not until the thirteenth century, however, that their name first appeared in official Scottish documents as “Coveran”, and then as

  “Cochran”. A hundred years later, while England was ruled by the Plantagenets, the family assumed a new importance in Scotland’s affairs in the person of Robert Cochran. His taste

  for fine architecture was combined with an ability to hew his opponent to pieces with a broadsword in a remarkably short space of time. It was the latter quality which recommended him to James III

  of Scotland. Thomas Cochrane later remarked that his ancestor played the same role to King James as Cardinal Wolsey was to do to Henry VIII, though with a different conclusion.




  Unscrupulous in most things, Robert Cochran was loyal to his master, crushing the power of the Scottish nobility in order to reinforce the authority of the King. James duly rewarded him with the

  Earldom of Mar. Exasperated by this, the disgruntled knights and noblemen met to plan their vengeance, which was to take effect at a ceremonial military gathering. They fell upon Robert Cochran

  there and brought him to the bridge at Lauder. The bodies of other courtiers lynched by the plotters were already dangling from the bridge. Cochran coolly suggested that if they proposed to

  despatch him in the same manner, then his rank as Earl of Mar entitled him to die by a silk cord from his own pavilion. By way of answer, one of the knights wrenched off the gold chain about

  Cochran’s neck, and slipped the noose over him. A moment later, King James’s trusted servant dropped over the side of the bridge, and died as the rope sprang taut.




  Surprisingly, in view of their way of life and the troubled times, no other Cochrane died by the hangman’s art. A near exception was Sir John Cochrane, younger son of the 1st Earl of

  Dundonald. When the Protestant Duke of Monmouth raised the west of England against the Catholic James II, Sir John joined the Earl of Argyll’s simultaneous rebellion in Scotland. After its

  failure, he was taken prisoner and sentenced to death. It required only the arrival of the death warrant from London to seal his fate. But his daughter, showing the traditional spirit and audacity

  of the Cochranes, dressed herself as a man and “twice attacked and robbed the mails (between Belfor and Berwick) which conveyed the death-warrants”. At the same time, she persuaded

  Father Petre, King James’s confessor, to forward a bribe of £5000 for Sir John’s life. A pardon was accordingly obtained. Bishop Burnet, staunchly Whig and Protestant, preferred

  another story. According to this, the King pardoned Sir John after a private interview, during which the prisoner betrayed details of secret negotiations between the rebels

  and William of Orange, who was to depose the King three years later and reign as William III. Not that Burnet was prepared to forego the story of the bribe entirely, remarking that Sir John had

  “a rich father, the Earl of Dundonald: And he offered the Priests 5000l. to save his son. They wanted a stock of money for managing their designs: so they interposed so effectually,

  that the bargain was made.”3




  Whatever the precise truth, Sir John had had a very narrow escape. His cautionary experience persuaded the rest of the Cochrane family to spend most of the next century in loyal, if humdrum,

  service to the crown.




  Eventful and vivid though his family history might be, the young Thomas Cochrane was quite as apt to be influenced by the present as by the past. His background, in this

  respect, differed markedly from that of English political patrons and their favourites, who knew that lucrative administrative posts as “placemen” of the ministry, no less than the

  political reward of sinecure employments, were theirs by right to manipulate or enjoy. As late as 1833, Lord Macaulay, writing of Sir Robert Walpole in the Edinburgh Review, could remark

  equably, “That he practised corruption on a large scale is, we think, indisputable. . . . Walpole governed by corruption because, in his time, it was impossible to govern otherwise . . . the

  House of Commons was in that situation in which assemblies must be managed by corruption or cannot be managed at all.” The attitude of men of affairs in the eighteenth century could hardly be

  more accurately mirrored. Despite the scorn of later generations, the recent memories of “corruption” were not unduly disquieting to Macaulay, either as essayist or as minister of the

  crown. When Cochrane, with his clear sense of honour and political decency, encountered the easy-going ministerial politics of his time, he showed neither respect nor mercy to his

  opponents.4




  His childhood world made him ill-equipped for the great moral compromise of public life. Culross was idyllic, though not remote, bounded by the hills of Kinross, the smooth waters of the Forth,

  and the city of Edinburgh a dozen miles downstream, already fulfilling its claim to the cliché, “The Athens of the North”. To Cochrane, Edinburgh was always the natural seat of

  learning and jurisprudence, of fine art and high society. The noble buildings of the defunct Scottish parliament served as a reminder that at the beginning of the century

  Scotland had still been free of the borough-mongering and ministerial bribery of Westminster politics.




  Worse still, Westminster showed its scorn for the Scots, the “Sawneys” and “North Britons”, as an inferior breed whose very religion was despised. A group of

  Presbyterians sought an interview with Lord Thurlow, the Lord Chancellor, to ask that they should not continue to suffer civil and political disqualifications merely for being Presbyterians.

  “Gentlemen,” said the Lord Chancellor, “I’ll be perfectly frank with you. Gentlemen, I am against you and for the Established Church, by God. Not that I like the Established

  Church a bit better than any other church, but because it is established. And whenever you can get your damned religion established, I’ll be for that too. Good morning to

  you.”5




  However great their distaste for English public life, the decline of the family estates left the Cochranes with little choice but to seek their fortunes through it. As patterns

  for the young Lord Cochrane’s future, his childhood world was haunted by the dim and often downright shady figures of his paternal uncles. Uncle Charles, of course, had died for King and

  Country at Yorktown, but his surviving brothers were energetically involved in different public pursuits.




  The Honourable Basil Cochrane had chosen the service of the East India Company, where his nephew might one day make money in considerable quantities. Unhappily, when the boy was eight years old,

  news reached Culross of a great misfortune in Uncle Basil’s life. In his zeal for justice, he had been so unfortunate as to flog two Indians to death, or so it was alleged. They had been

  guilty of falsifying the account books at Negapatam, where Basil Cochrane was in charge of John Company’s affairs. The keeper of accounts, Vydenadah, refused to produce the books so Basil

  Cochrane had him tied to the balustrade and flogged by a team of sepoys to persuade him of his error.6




  Of the two “murdered” Indians, one Ramah Naig, was found to be alive and well. But Vydenadah had certainly died several days after the beating, from whatever causes. The East India

  Company in Madras was obliged to hold an inquiry. The next year, 1786, the Court of Directors in London read the report and dismissed Basil Cochrane from their service. They would have preferred to

  see him removed from India altogether but he remained as a merchant, victualling the ships of the Royal Navy at Madras on the basis of a one per cent commission. He knew

  too much about the secrets of the East India trade for the directors to risk public warfare with him. He was ready to tell the world, for example, the story of “condemned provisions”.

  These cases of rotten food were put ashore from ships and written off. They were then resold to other ships, as fresh supplies, and in due course put ashore somewhere else. Dumped and sold

  repeatedly, the putrifying cargoes sailed the Indian Ocean “at the expense of the public”.7




  The East India directors made their peace with Basil Cochrane, who spent the next forty years screwing every last penny from the Victualling Board of the Admiralty, on whose behalf he operated.

  Once, at least, they thought they had the measure of him, reckoning that he owed them over £9000. They should have known better. There was a ten-year dogfight in the Court of Exchequer, in

  Parliament, where Cochrane presented petitions against them, and in the press. When it was over, the Victualling Board had not seen a penny of their money and found themselves, by the vagaries of

  Exchequer, condemned to pay Cochrane almost £1000.8 It was unlikely that the East India Company would receive Basil Cochrane’s nephew

  with much enthusiasm.




  A more hopeful avenue was opened by the career of a more distinguished uncle who was to win high naval honours, Alexander Cochrane, then a captain in the Royal Navy. The 9th Earl of Dundonald

  disliked the navy, having tried it for a short while himself, so Uncle Alexander acted independently. He had fought with distinction under Admiral Lord Rodney and his influence was sufficient to

  allow him to enter little Thomas Cochrane’s name, as midshipman, on the books of four Royal Navy ships: the Vesuvius, the Caroline, La Sophie, and the Hind. Of

  course, it was not intended that the child should go to sea at an unreasonably tender age. Uncle Alexander was merely ensuring that if his nephew was allowed to choose the navy, then his seniority

  as a midshipman would date from the time his name was entered on the ships’ books.




  Apart from such figures as Basil and Alexander, the six Cochrane uncles contained one man who was the “black sheep” of the family in the grand manner. As a scoundrel and a fraud,

  Colonel Andrew Cochrane-Johnstone, as he called himself, was to play the most important role in his nephew’s life. He was a profiteer and slave-trader who had entered the army and risen to

  the rank of colonel by 1797. Then he was appointed Governor of Domenica, a post which he reasonably regarded as carrying a licence to pilfer and embezzle to his heart’s content. As for his slave-trading interests, the government could not have been more helpful. The 8th West India regiment was put under his command and he quickly set

  them to work for his private use, building a fine estate to house the harem of girls whom he collected as a hobby. He seemed the archetype of the Victorian “bounder” or

  “cad”. As he watched the parade of slave women with a connoisseur’s eye, or observed the flogging of a recalcitrant subject, it might seem that this easy existence could not last.

  For this contingency, he had a well-laid plan. When, in 1803, the great investigation began, the acts of embezzlement and misappropriation had been so arranged that they all appeared as the work of

  his subordinate, Major Gordon.




  The court-martial, however, was a match for Cochrane-Johnstone. Its members heard the evidence, acquitted John Gordon, and indicted the ex-Governor of Domenica himself. Still he eluded their

  vengeance. As time went by and the law delayed, it grew more difficult to prove the case. To the disgust of George III, the prosecution failed. Yet in the general brevet promotion of army officers

  in 1803, Cochrane-Johnstone was passed over. Indeed, he was made to resign his commission. He wrote to the Prince of Wales saying that he had heard his resignation was to be cancelled and that he

  was to be made a major-general. A cold official reply informed him that if he had heard anything of the kind, he was sadly in error. Cruelly misjudged, he sat in the comfort of his Harley Street

  house, describing himself, moist-eyed, to all who would listen as “an innocent man, who had devoted his life and fortune to the service of his King and Country”. In order to be immune

  from arrest for debt and to turn unreservedly to “speculation”, he bought the parliamentary seat of Grampound. The constituency was so notoriously corrupt that even an anti-reform House

  of Commons made an exception and abolished it a decade before 1832. When the authorities chose to topple Thomas Cochrane from a hero’s pinnacle, the rogue uncle was a handy

  instrument.9




  The 9th Earl himself exercised the most direct influence over his son’s development. Quick-tempered, anxious, unpredictable, he was crotchety with good reason, tight-fisted because he had

  nothing to give. He harped querulously on the “res angusta domi”, that convenient Latin tag conditioning his family to frugality and parsimony. In politics he was a Whig, approving

  progress and emancipation at a future date which seemed to recede infinitely. When he ventured out of Culross, to visit Edinburgh or London, he returned complaining tetchily, “This is an age

  of sentiment, novels, and overstrained refinement.” He despised those who tried to sail “with the tide of the popular”. While disliking political

  oppression, he deeply suspected men like William Wilberforce whom he saw parading their “misguided phrenzy or opinion, making a bustle about Slave Trade, Freedom, and emancipation of

  Negroes, while they will turn their eyes from scenes of domestic and national misery”. In fact the young Wilberforce’s evangelical enthusiasm embraced the suppression of

  Sabbath-breaking, drunkenness, and indecent literature at home, as well as slavery overseas. To the Earl, he seemed just the type to become the dupe of violent revolutionaries. “He surely

  does not foresee the consequence of ill-timed alterations.”10




  Even before the death of his young wife, the Earl himself turned away from politics to the immediate question of the “res angusta domi”. It was both a corroding anxiety and, at the

  same time, the spur to achievement. He vowed to redeem the family fortunes, perhaps to hand on to the young Lord Cochrane a flourishing estate whose wealth would be greater and more enduring than

  that of his ancestors who had built Culross. The new fortunes of the Cochranes would not lie in war, nor in the corrupt ministerial favouritism of Westminster and the “places” found for

  political sycophants. The riches would be those of the new age which was dawning in Europe, the wealth of reason and the rewards of enlightenment. The 9th Earl of Dundonald would be remembered as a

  great scientist, inventor and manufacturer of his day.




  It was less absurd than it might seem. As a young man, the Earl had spent a short while in the navy. During this period, he had noticed the ravages of worms on the bottoms of ships, where they

  ate into the structure of the hull. The replacement of so much rotten timber was a considerable drain on the resources of the Admiralty. A few ships were “hobnailed”, the bottoms

  covered with large-headed iron nails, but this was far too expensive a method to be undertaken often. The 9th Earl, pondering this problem, thought of the coal on the Culross estate. It was only

  mined in a small way, the Earl’s philanthropic principles forbidding the use of colliers’ wives and daughters as “beasts of burthen” in hauling the coal to the surface. He

  had undertaken some simple experiments of his own with coal, in a kiln. When it was “reduced” to coke, a thick black substance was given off, known as coal tar. The coke was readily

  bought by the new ironworks. But might not the coal tar be refined in such a way that it could be used to coat the hulls of ships?11




  When his son and heir was six years old, the Earl turned almost exclusively to the pursuit of his scientific dream, being granted a patent for his “coal

  tar”. In the following year, 1782, he pacified his creditors with promises of future riches and set up “The British Tar Company” at Culross. He was not alone in the venture.

  Matthew Boulton, who had successfully marketed James Watt’s steam engine was a family friend. Joseph Black, “the father of modern chemistry” and Professor of Chemistry at

  Edinburgh, was a friend and enthusiast. Sir John Dalrymple, a parliamentary lawyer, surveyed the company’s financial obligations and reported favourably to the Earl’s creditors. By 1783

  there were four furnaces at Culross, processing twenty-eight tons of coal a week. The Earl was delighted and thought only of expanding the project. Adam Smith as well as Black and Dalrymple became

  an admirer of the new process. Now was the time to raise vast sums of capital and the Earl wrote hopefully to his uncle Andrew Stuart urging him to invest at such a propitious moment. “We are

  encouraged to proceed in establishing the manufacture upon a very large scale in different parts of Great Britain . . . but a capital of thirty to forty thousand pounds will in the course of a few

  years need to be expended.” Such an outlay was staggering, it was far more than all the accumulated debts of all the Cochranes in history. £22,400 was invested with a promise of an

  annual clear profit of £5000.12




  The delighted Earl was within reach of his ambition. He had, after all, achieved an easy and cheap answer to the problems of worm-eaten vessels. Dalrymple hardly exaggerated when he claimed that

  “from a Naval Nation Lord Dundonald deserves a Statue of Gold”. The Earl travelled to Birmingham, taking young Thomas Cochrane with him, and talked to the great James Watt of this and

  other inventions which had either been proposed or were thought desirable. Young Lord Cochrane remembered how they discussed the problem of finding some source of lighting for the streets of towns

  and cities. The man who could invent and patent such a process was assured of wealth and honours. The solution seemed far away. On the Culross estate the Earl was preoccupied with the distilling of

  coal tar and had no leisure to consider other men’s problems. He was concerned over the vapour which was given off in the process, since it was inflammable and possibly injurious. Near the

  house itself, he had an experimental kiln which he decided to adapt in order to get rid of the unwanted fumes. In darkness, he fitted a gun barrel to the outlet pipe, carrying the vapour to a safe

  height. Then, as the process of extracting coal tar began, he held a light to the muzzle. Three miles away, on the other shore of the Firth, the inhabitants stared in

  amazement as the dark waters and distant coast blazed with light. But the Earl’s head was bent to examine the dark and glossy coal tar on which he had set all his hopes. Above him, the gas

  lighting, which he had invented without realising it, blazed unheeded. It was William Murdoch, an employee of James Watt who saw the possibility latent in the one invention which might have saved

  Culross. He developed it and it was later patented by Frederic Winsor in 1804.13




  But the Earl still had his coal tar and, taking young Lord Cochrane with him once more, he set off for London. He was about to present his great discovery to the Admiralty and their

  ship-repairers. It was not too much to hope that wealth and honour would be his at last.




  The Admiralty seemed disinclined at first to take any notice of the coal tar invention. But they relented and agreed to coat one side of a buoy at the Nore with the Earl’s patent mixture.

  However, they insisted that it was to be done at the Earl’s own expense, the Navy Board was not to be committed to any financial outlay. The inventor agreed and the buoy was prepared. He

  waited impatiently during the trial period and then went to receive the verdict of the Admiralty. Yes, the experiment had been a complete success, protecting the side of the buoy against the worm

  while the other side had rotted. No, the Admiralty was not interested in the invention.




  The Earl was dumbfounded by this reply. He had pacified his creditors, borrowed a further £22,400 and was irretrievably in debt unless coal tar were adopted. Why should it not be? Still

  with young Lord Cochrane in tow, he began to visit shipbuilders, to see if there was some special technical problem involved in using coal tar, some minor defect which he might be able to overcome.

  He received his answer at last from a shipbuilder in Limehouse.




  “My lord,” said the man, “we live by repairing ships as well as by building them, and the worm is our best friend. Rather than use your preparation, I would cover ships’

  bottoms with honey to attract worms.”14




  Similar objections, wrote Lord Cochrane, were “everywhere encountered” among the shipbuilders. “Neither they, nor any artisans in wood, would patronise a plan to render their

  work durable.” As for the Admiralty and the Navy Board, it was common knowledge that many of the clerks in the King’s dockyards also acted as agents for the private contractors. They

  were hardly likely to recommend to the Board a substance which would lead to a recession among those on whose behalf they acted and whose profits they shared.15




  Father and son returned, suitably chastened, to Culross. But though the Earl’s fortunes had taken such a turn for the worse, he was confident that some other scientific development might

  yet secure the future of his family. To make assurance doubly sure, he began to work on a host of projects simultaneously. Perhaps it was his election to the Royal Society of Scotland which gave

  him the confidence to launch out in this manner, but the other members of the British Tar Company grew uneasy. Its future might be unpromising but at least it was not actually losing money. Joseph

  Black went to Culross and was alarmed to find that the Earl had lost his enthusiasm for coal tar and was now pottering about with experiments for manufacturing salt or attempting to produce sal

  ammoniac. “I endeavoured to dissuade him from the pursuit of these for the present, and advised him to attend to the branches of his manufacture which had already succeeded and were bringing

  in money.”16




  It was certainly true that the coal tar process was a scientific success, but the refusal of the Admiralty and the reluctance of shipbuilders to use it had put an end to its commercial use.

  Without such patronage, a return of £5000 a year on the £22,400 investment was impossible. Perhaps, then, the salvation of Culross lay in the manufacture of salt. The Earl published

  The Present State of the Manufacture of Salt Explained, only to find his time and enthusiasm expended in the literary snarling of a pamphlet-war with men who disagreed over his figures for

  the populations of Britain and France, or for the amount of salt imported. Meanwhile, the shadow of total ruin spread over Culross and its inhabitants.




  As he pottered about his experimental “salt-pan”, the Earl noticed that the process produced a quantity of soda. But for the time being he was obsessed by salt-manufacture and the

  production of alkalis was an irrelevance. He had, without realising it, revolutionised the manufacture of soap and glass, as he discovered when other men took his soda, used it instead of scarce

  barilla, and made their fortunes. While his financial position grew worse, he spread his intellectual resources as widely as his borrowed capital. The bankrupt estate at Culross began to produce

  alumina for silk and calico printing, British gum as a substitute for imported gum senegal, sal ammoniac, and white lead. The Earl himself began to experiment in making bread from potatoes, as an

  aid to the poor.




  Not one of these activities was on a scale sufficient to cover its own costs and, as the noble inventor dissipated his energies and abilities, his behaviour grew

  progressively odder. He certainly drank more heavily as his commitments grew more oppressive, but he also assumed something of the character of a scientific Micawber, hoping every day that a sudden

  miracle in technology would manifest itself to retrieve the family fortunes.




  The Earl’s four sons can have expected little from the estate and they were the least surprised of anyone when in 1793, when Thomas Cochrane was seventeen, Culross Abbey and the family

  lands had to be put up for sale to satisfy the creditors. The Earl had a special brochure printed and opened it with an appeal “To his Countrymen”. He admitted that “There are few

  situations in which it may be thought proper for an individual to bring himself or his private concerns forward to the public eye.” In the present case it had been done “with

  reluctance”. However, the reluctance and a habitual reference to the “res angusta domi” which had handicapped the author’s genius, were quickly followed by a well-balanced

  promotional address for the sale of Culross. There was no sentimental grief for a lost family home, no picture of the scenic beauties of the place. The Earl summed up Culross Abbey as an industrial

  asset, listing the quantities of coal and fire-clay which might be mined there, once the woods, which had been so much admired by lovers of the Romantic scene, were chopped down and the ground

  cleared. Not that the woods were without significance, of course. Timber was fetching a high price as conflict with France threatened and obliged the Admiralty to build more ships.




  The financial catastrophe which had overtaken the Earl in no way diminished his enthusiasm for scientific investigation. While he and his creditors were in prolonged negotiation for the disposal

  of Culross, he produced his largest and most important publication, A Treatise Shewing the Intimate Connection that Subsists between Agriculture and Chemistry. But once again, he was in

  advance of his time. What was dismissed as eccentricity in the Earl of Dundonald was to be hailed as the genius of discovery in Sir Humphrey Davy. Indeed, the most bitter irony of all was still far

  in the future, when the Earl was an old and dying man, struggling to support his ailing mistress and her child in Parisian squalor, to which he had been driven by the most remorseless of his

  creditors. From the miseries of this exile, where drink had become his last consolation, the old man heard that their Lordships of the Admiralty had conceived an interesting new idea. In 1822, they

  had asked a committee of the Royal Society, under the chairmanship of Sir Humphrey Davy, to investigate the possibility that coal tar might be an effective and cheap

  preservative for ships’ bottoms. The committee reported favourably and their Lordships congratulated themselves on their acumen. Not only was their suggestion vindicated but the cantankerous

  Scottish earl who had taken out a patent in the 1780s, had neither heart nor money to renew it in 1806. The Admiralty, by biding its time, got the process for nothing.




  The Earl was preoccupied with the dispersal of his family. He also remarried in 1788, choosing a handsome widow, Isabella Raymond. She died in 1808, her dark and aquiline beauty preserved in her

  portrait by Gainsborough. On marrying Mrs Raymond, he parted with young Lord Cochrane and his brother Basil, who spent six months at Mr Chauvet’s military academy in Kensington Square,

  London, with a view to subsequent careers in the British Army. One member of the family who had done well in the world, at that time, was the scapegrace uncle, Andrew Cochrane-Johnstone. He was

  very nearly a full colonel and well placed to persuade the Horse Guards to provide a commission for Lord Cochrane in the 104th Foot, a regiment well down the seniority list of the army. There was a

  family row when the boy returned from Chauvet’s and swore that he hated military life and would prefer the navy. The Cochranes, he was made to understand, were no longer rich enough to

  indulge such fads. So the two youngsters were seen off to London again by stage-coach, that being the most economical conveyance. The Earl’s agent watched them go, observing, “It is

  true they have not had very much education, but they are strong and fine to look at and very sensible and will get on anywhere.”17




  It seemed that Lord Cochrane, at least, was about to prove the agent wrong on this last point. The great drama raged over an improbable pair of items – a bilious yellow waistcoat and

  matching trousers. The colour happened to be that of the Whig party, to which the Earl was firmly attached, and he had conceived the novel idea of sending his son off to join his regiment in the

  party colours. “I was admonished never to be ashamed,” wrote Cochrane, describing the ordeal, for the Earl regarded party and loyalty as matters for proud display. Moreover, his son

  must look like a young officer of fashion. This, too, the Earl interpreted somewhat oddly. He had the youth’s head cropped and its remains plastered down with “a vile composition of

  candlegrease and flour”. The net result was that Lord Cochrane, in clothes cut absurdly for his height, and outrageously coloured, appeared in the London streets

  looking more like a pantomime clown than an infantry officer. Hoots of laughter followed his progress and the gang of ragged boys near Charing Cross jeered him until he almost wept. The misery of

  these weeks determined him that he would take his chance anywhere rather than in the loathsome profession of the army. Summoning up his courage, he returned home to inform his father.18




  The Earl was first speechless with surprise and then furious. When the boy begged to be saved from “the degradation of floured head, pigtail and yellow breeches”, the Earl, seeking

  some rational basis for his anger, accused Lord Cochrane of insulting him personally and the Whig party in general. He proceeded to box the boy’s ears in a very spirited manner. But as the

  latest of innumerable rows between father and son subsided into sullen separation, the most important question remained unanswered. The Cochranes had been sometimes imprudent and often unfortunate,

  but they had never flinched from their adversaries and they had borne adversities of many kinds with a courage which was wholly admirable. Robert Cochran, facing execution, had treated his

  murderers with haughty contempt, but here stood the latest of his line, a gangling ninny who ran home to his father because some rough boys shouted rude words at him near Charing Cross. The

  Earl’s anger must have masked his dismay as he wondered what more could be done for his son and heir.19




  The solution to this and many more problems was at hand. While the hopeful young cadets attended Mr Chauvet’s military cramming course in Kensington Square, another

  building in that same group of handsome dwellings standing in semi-rural parkland close to the London road might have caught their attention. It was a residence of the French ambassador, the

  Marquis de Chauvelin, who since the revolution of 1789 had embraced the more fashionable title of “Citizen Chauvelin”. But for all his revolutionary protestations, the young Marquis

  matched the type of the aristocratic nincompoop quite as well as any young nobleman of the old order. He was incompetent in negotiation and tactless in diplomacy, despised by the ministers of

  George III and suspected of bourgeois inclinations by the apostles of pure revolution in Paris.




  It was not Chauvelin who attracted most attention but another, older man whose position was that of a mere attaché. In the mornings he worked among his books, writing his memoirs it was

  said. In the afternoons he went out to keep his private and secret diplomatic appointments. The young men of Mr Chauvet’s military academy watched him limp towards

  his carriage, a man in early middle-age with a puffy, rounded face and full figure, wearing leather breeches with top boots, a round hat and short tail-coat, his hair arranged in a little queue. He

  was known to the Prime Minister, William Pitt, and to the Foreign Secretary, Lord Grenville, as a “deep” and “dangerous” man. The other inhabitants of the square heard that

  he had once been Bishop of Autun, until he cast his allegiance on the side of the revolution. His name was Charles Maurice Talleyrand, the future Foreign Minister of Napoleon, and perhaps the

  greatest name in European diplomacy.20




  Talleyrand’s mission in the spring of 1792 was to form an alliance with England or, at least, to persuade Pitt’s government to remain neutral in the republic’s war against

  Austria and Prussia. Talleyrand was an anglophile with many friends in English cultural life and in the Whig opposition. The Tories were less well-disposed to him, the Foreign Secretary writing to

  George III on 28 April 1792 that Talleyrand was not to be considered as more than an attaché. The print-shops of Piccadilly exhibited “strong” caricatures of a smooth-tongued and

  two-faced ex-bishop. When Chauvelin, Talleyrand, and other members of the French embassy went to Ranelagh one evening, where ladies and gentlemen of fashion sipped cool drinks or walked among the

  pleasure gardens, listening to the music, the “fasionables” gathered themselves up at the sight of murderers in their midst and fled precipitately.21




  Talleyrand failed to get his alliance, but he persuaded Pitt to announce England’s neutrality, which was a valuable consideration when the Duke of Brunswick’s army drove back the

  French towards Paris in a few months’ time. He returned to Paris in July 1792, where his “wisdom” and “circumspection” had already been proclaimed by the Chronique

  de Paris on 11 June.




  He was still in Paris on 10 August when the mob invaded the Tuileries, as the Duke of Brunswick neared Paris, and command of the revolution passed from its intellectual leaders to the butchers

  who were prepared to do the work at which finer sensibilities shuddered. The Swiss guard was massacred, prisons where enemies of the revolution were held became slaughterhouses, associates of the

  royal family were lynched. Marie Antoinette’s friend, Madame de Lamballe, was torn apart, her “executioners” wearing the most private parts of her anatomy as decorations.




  The news reached England on 14 August with reports of 11,000 men and women having been massacred. Charles James Fox and the members of the Whig opposition, who had

  watched the progress of the revolution with interested benevolence, were dismayed. J. B. Burges wrote from Whitehall to Lord Grenville that the mob had advanced on the British embassy, but the

  Swiss Guard there had been hidden and so escaped the massacre. Quite apart from horror at the events, the government must decide what to do about the ambassador, Lord Gower. “I tremble for

  the safety of Lord Gower and family,” wrote Burges. So did Pitt, who insisted to the Foreign Secretary that it was “absolutely necessary to lose no time in bringing Lord Gower from

  Paris”.22




  The withdrawal of the British ambassador was inevitable, Lord Gower arriving back in London on 3 September. It was the first movement of the diplomats’ danse macabre, preceding a great

  war.




  A fortnight after Lord Gower’s return, the limping figure of the ex-Bishop of Autun was seen again in Kensington Square. At the insistence of Danton, he had become the apologist of the new

  phase of the revolution, still striving to keep peace with England. He presented a memorandum explaining that the “downfall of the King of France” did not mean that the new republic

  presented “an insult and a menace to all kings”. On the contrary, France professed nothing but “friendship” and “esteem” for England. Yet just as France had not

  interfered when England beheaded Charles I, but had recognised the new régime, so England must cease to meddle in the affairs of the infant republic.23




  Such was the philosophy which Talleyrand expounded. It was small wonder that his audience at St James’s was a trying encounter. George III, in place of his quirky, exclamatory manner on

  social occasions, received the envoy with glacial correctness and in almost total silence. Queen Charlotte, like a stately-rigged ship, ostentatiously turned her back on Talleyrand’s

  apologies and refused either to speak to or look at him again.




  Citizen Chauvelin was even more detestable. In August it was thought that he had bolted for France and a watch was kept for him at Dover and Margate, the likely ports of embarkation. But it

  proved that he had only gone down to Brighton for a couple of days. Presumably he had met a messenger from the National Convention, but the news which he had to send to Paris was not encouraging.

  The August massacres had turned the people of England against France. They felt a natural human interest in the fate of Louis XVI and Marie Antoinette. The political

  injustices of royalist France were eclipsed by a concern for the imprisoned family. The Whigs, who had opposed war on the grounds that it would be waged to interfere in the internal affairs of

  France, now washed their hands of the revolution. There was no longer an extreme anti-war faction in England which a few months previously had daubed the walls of London with such slogans as,

  “No war with France or we rebel”.




  During the autumn of 1792, the peacemakers like Talleyrand continued their efforts, but they did so without conviction. There was no inescapable reason driving France and England into conflict.

  Rather, the public mood which had been so strong for peace was drifting into approval of war.




  The crisis came on the evening of 23 January 1793. In St James’s and the City, Westminster and Southwark, small groups of men and women gathered to read the bills which had been freshly

  posted. As the crowds gathered, there was a mood of stupor and then indignation, the news being passed back from one person to another. Two days before, Louis XVI had been taken from captivity and

  guillotined. The shock was followed by suppressed anger. Every theatre closed and at one in which the performance had already begun, the audience demanded that the curtain should be rung down and

  the play stopped as a mark of respect. Men went home and reappeared in black coats. The court, parliament, and the great mass of the people went into mourning. By this final act of barbarity, the

  French republic had put itself beyond the conventions of diplomacy.




  The next morning there was a hurried correspondence between the King, Pitt, and Lord Grenville. The royal drawing room to be held that afternoon was postponed and, instead, there was a meeting

  of the Privy Council at the Queen’s House. On the King’s insistence, the meeting drew up “the necessary order that Monsieur Chauvelin may instantly leave the kingdom”. As

  for Talleyrand, he had already written to Grenville denouncing the “crime” of his countrymen in executing their King. He was permitted to stay for the time being and eventually made his

  way to America. It was a wise decision, since he had been secretly denounced to the Convention by Achille Viard on 7 December as a collaborator with emigrés.24




  George III left his Privy Council. As he drove through the London streets, he was heartened by the crowds who cheered and roared, “War with France! War with France!” The diplomatic

  minuet was almost complete. Even as the King greeted his enthusiastic subjects, Lord Grenville was writing to Lord Auckland, British ambassador at The Hague, “the

  next despatch to you, or the next but one, will announce the commencement of hostilities. Probably the French will commence them”.25




  As a matter of fact, hostilities had already begun. Captain Robert Barlow was off the north-west coast of France, commanding the Royal Navy brig-sloop Childers, a diminutive warship

  with a single gun-deck and eight small guns on either side. He was standing in towards the entrance of Brest harbour, the mouth of the port being guarded by two artillery forts. There was hardly a

  breath of wind and the flood tide was carrying the Childers towards the harbour entrance. When the ship was less than a mile away there was a white puff of smoke from one of the forts, the

  hiss of a cannon ball overhead, and then a plume of spray just beyond the brig-sloop. Assuming that there was some error of identification, Barlow ran up his ensign. At this the fort on the other

  side of the harbour opened fire as well and he found himself caught in a resolute crossfire. His only advantage was that the Childers was so small as to be a difficult target at that

  range. None the less, a 48-pound shot hit the upper deck, exploding into three fragments and doing superficial damage. The tide was not due to change for some hours and Captain Barlow owed his

  escape to a light breeze which sprang up and enabled him to carry his ship clear of the port. He returned home with the questionable honour of being the first man to engage the enemy.26




  On 1 February 1793, the French Convention put hostilities on an official footing by declaring war on England and Holland. The news reached London on 4 February and five days later George III

  wrote from Windsor to Lord Grenville, describing it as “highly agreeable to me”.27




  It was not, perhaps, highly agreeable to the Earl of Dundonald but it certainly opened up opportunities for placing his remaining sons in the army or the navy. Young Lord

  Cochrane had made a sufficient ass of himself to rule out the army, however much his father might have preferred that to a naval career and his uncle, Alexander Cochrane, had at least entered his

  name as a midshipman on the books of several small and undistinguished vessels. It was not much, but it was the only expedient at hand. The 9th Earl had not even the money to buy his son’s

  uniform but the first weeks of war were a time of great patriotic feeling and the nation’s leaders were more ready than usual to encourage martial ambition among the young. Lord Hopetoun was

  approached, and the Earl managed to borrow £100 from him. Part of this was laid out in the purchase of a gold watch, which Cochrane received with the remains of the

  money and a dour warning that it was the only inheritance he need expect.




  The frigate Hind, lying off Sheerness, was the first available ship on whose books the young man’s name had been entered. Lord Cochrane’s grandmother happened to be going to

  London at the time and, since he had yet to prove his capacity for looking after himself, he was entrusted to her care. With the final lecture on the spartan virtues of the “res angusta

  domi” echoing in his mind, he watched the vistas of Culross, Edinburgh, and Scotland, fade behind him. On 27 June, in charge of an uncle who saw him safely from London to Sheerness, Cochrane

  and his luggage were ferried out to the frigate, which lay at anchor in the river estuary, the sails reefed on her tall masts.




  Even the general air of public indignation against France could not disguise the deep preoccupation with hard cash which dominated naval affairs. It was a fact of war that

  enemy ships were far more often captured than sunk. In the first year of the new war, for example, the British captured thirty-six French ships of which twenty-seven were incorporated into the

  Royal Navy. The French took nine British ships in return. Subject to the ruling of the Admiralty prize courts, the value of the ships captured from the enemy was shared, however unequally, between

  captains, officers, and men, as well as the admiral who happened to hold general command of the area in which the seizure had occurred. Though it was not mentioned in the patriotic ballads, it was

  a commonplace observation among those who knew naval life at first-hand that British seamen thought of cash rather than glory as they sailed into battle. From long experience, Captain Marryat

  observed that sailors “always begin to reckon what their share of prize money may be, before a shot is fired”. An ordinary seaman, under an enterprising captain, found that his real

  income was higher than that of many officers on more easy-going ships. As for the commanders, they included such men as Captain Digby, who was to command H.M.S. Africa at Trafalgar and who

  had amassed £60,000 in prize money before he was thirty years old, which put him well on the way to being a millionaire by modern values.




  To most Royal Navy crews there was no incompatibility whatever between glory and cash. Glory was excellent for national morale and personal reputation, but it had proved a notoriously

  unnegotiable commodity for heroes and their dependents. Once the elation and gratitude of their countrymen began to cool, the heroes of the hour were easily regarded as the

  “surplus population” of the long years of peace.




  To a young man in Cochrane’s position, the life of a naval officer was rich in promise. From the day on which he joined H.M.S. Hind, there was to be almost continuous war for

  twenty-two years. Few periods in history could have presented a better opportunity for the acquisition of wealth by conquest. Whatever interludes might occur in the land campaigns, the war at sea

  was likely to be unremitting.




  Such, at least, was the golden prospect offered to hopeful young officers. In more general terms, the nation was possessed by two alternative views of naval life. The first was that of a

  stout-hearted, élite fighting service, unrivalled in the world. As the Royal Marine bands piped “Hearts of oak are our ships, jolly tars are our men”, they caught this sentiment

  with trite precision. The second and opposing image was of a navy of surly, press-ganged crews, kept to their duty by homicidal floggings and the fear of being hanged. Starved, diseased, and cowed,

  these men rose in occasional desperate mutinies, which were put down by brutal repression.




  Like all travesties, each of these pictures reflected an element of truth. Though its officers were less wealthy and its social prestige stood below that of the more famous regiments of the

  army, the Royal Navy was an élite fighting force. “You can always beat a Frenchman if you fight him long enough,” Cornwallis assured Nelson. Such sentiments were arrogant as

  expressions but accurate as matters of record. It was not superior moral character but more thorough training in the techniques of battle which, for example, enabled many British gun crews to

  deliver two broadsides against a passing French ship in exchange for the one they received. Moreover, while the French Navy had been allowed to dwindle during the eighteenth century,

  Britain’s maritime interests had dictated the opposite policy. Her most impressive ships had been laid down during that period. The Victory was forty years old at Trafalgar, the

  Defiance was forty-one, and the Britannia was forty-three, having been launched in 1762.




  Despite the dark legends of the press gangs, the lure of prizes was potentially the more effective weapon in recruiting seamen. The attraction was simply that piracy had been made legal for the

  duration of hostilities. In pursuit of their prey, the most respectable commanders of English ships resorted to devices which would have caused international dismay half a

  century later. Royal Navy captains flew American, Danish, or even French colours to dupe their opponents, hoping to come close enough to ships or shore-batteries to do untold damage before their

  victims awoke to the deception. When Sir Sydney Smith sailed almost into Brest harbour in 1795, flying French colours and hailing his enemies in their own language, no one thought he had acted

  otherwise than honourably. The French, in turn, went hunting in English colours. Though there was a difference in build between English and French ships, identification was by no means easy. Ships

  were frequently captured and incorporated into the opposing navy without even a change of name. The Bonne Citoyenne and the Revolutionnaire fought in the Royal Navy under their

  original names. There was an Achille on both sides at Trafalgar.




  To hide a ship’s guns, or to show sailors on deck dressed in the French style, were minimal deceptions by the Royal Navy. In return, the French set traps for avaricious crews. When

  Napoleon annexed Italy, all shipping in Italian waters became fair game. Captain Abraham Crawford described in his Reminiscences the delight of his comrades on H.M.S. Sultan at

  finding two merchant ships anchored and abandoned off the Ligurian coast, their crews having retired to a nearby town for the night. Boarding parties swarmed up the sides and cut the cables. But

  neither of the ships could be moved. The British sailors had fallen for the lure of ships moored by an extra line from the masthead to the cliffs above them. Concealed on these heights, the

  watching sharpshooters opened a flashing hail of musketry, which scythed among the boarding parties on the open decks. Any man who climbed the mast to sever the line would have been an easy target

  in the moonlight. But so long as the rope was not cut, there was no escape from the musket fire. The boarding parties were saved at last by the presence of mind of a lieutenant. Dressing a dummy in

  sailors’ clothes, he hoisted it aloft. Every musket on the cliffs opened fire, and the dummy fell. During the moment when the sharpshooters were occupied with reloading, the most agile of the

  British sailors shinned up and cut the ropes.28




  But there was a code of honour in such matters. The British despised the French practice of having sharpshooters in the rigging to pick off individual officers and men during close skirmishes.

  It was one thing for a row of cannon to fire a general broadside at an enemy ship, when no one man fired specifically at another. But for a marksman to take deliberate aim at his opponent and shoot

  him was not an honest form of combat. Such had been the feeling in the army during the eighteenth century and so it was to remain for many captains and their crews.

  Prudence, as well as chivalry, endorsed the sentiment, since marksmen and their weapons had a disconcerting habit of setting fire accidentally to their own rigging.




  The same prejudice operated against the use of delayed-action devices or “submarine” warfare. Metal carcases were sometimes packed with gunpowder and floated into enemy ports or

  anchorages under cover of darkness. “Not a fair proceeding,” said Admiral Otway during the Walcheren expedition. “Unmanly,” announced Captain Crawford,

  “assassin-like”. Even the heating of shot before firing was regarded as a despicable French subterfuge. More than a decade after the Napoleonic wars, the naval historian William James

  still thought that, “The employment of hot shot is not usually deemed honourable warfare.” But, like the sharpshooters in the rigging, the practice also involved serious risk of setting

  fire to the ship which employed it.29




  However, a young officer in Cochrane’s position, joining the navy with a hope of enriching himself by prizes, faced a more powerful enemy than France or Spain, and one

  whose weapons were a good deal more sophisticated: the Admiralty and its prize courts. In the view of many serving officers, these courts were at best unsympathetic and, all too often, cynically

  corrupt. It was relatively common for a hopeful young commander and his men to find that, after a hard-won capture, the Admiralty proposed to appropriate the entire value of the prize. It was

  always open to the heroes to fight for their claim in the prize court. But even if they won their case, they might hear that the cost of the proceedings had swallowed up more than the sum due to

  them, so that they were now in debt to the court as well as having been robbed of the proceeds of their valour.




  A man might complain publicly or privately against the prize system. But before he set himself up as a “sea lawyer”, he was well advised to remember that this very employment, let

  alone his promotion, lay in the hands of the Admiralty itself. In consequence, there was a good deal of private grumbling and very little public campaigning.




  Even in time of war, appointment and promotion continued to be the great preoccupations of aspiring heroes. John Wilson Croker, who became Secretary to the Board of Admiralty in 1809, was

  dismayed by the “avalanche of applications”, which fell upon his desk, day after day and year after year. He may have reflected that Lord St Vincent, as First

  Lord of the Admiralty from 1801 to 1804, had refused to favour protégés, even when they came from his own family, and had returned blunt refusals to the Duke of Kent and the Prince of

  Wales when they sought preferment for one of their favourites.




  An easy pretext for rejection, in the case of a young man for whom a first naval appointment was sought, was to show that he was too old. As Croker informed one persistent suitor, “a man

  turned nineteen years of age is more than six years too old to begin a sea life”. Nelson had been a midshipman at twelve, and his friend George Parsons at eleven. Other “Young

  Gentlemen” went on active service at ten years old or less, until 1794 when the Admiralty laid down that candidates for commissions must be at least eleven. After several years of being

  dressed like a hero and beaten like a child, the boy might “pass for lieutenant”. He would still be young, in many cases. Indeed, Admiral Rodney had appointed his son to the command of

  a British warship at the age of fifteen. But the path from junior lieutenant to first lieutenant of a ship more frequently depended on the removal of senior lieutenants by death or misfortune. Many

  young officers must have shared the dream of William Price in Mansfield Park, as he imagined the annihilation of these human obstacles to glory, and his own splendid heroism once he had

  stepped into their shoes.30




  On promotion to a ship of his own, the lieutenant would become a commander. When appointed to a ship of over twenty guns, he rose to post-captain, or captain as it was more generally known. But

  all such promotions were liable to cause bitterness. When there was a vacancy for the command of a ship, the best placed lieutenants were those serving on the admiral’s flagship. Some of

  these were beneficiaries of “parliamentary promotion”, in which the protégés of a member of parliament were promoted, in exchange for his support of the government.

  Lieutenants on smaller and less distinguished ships might live and die in their more lowly rank.




  Once a lieutenant or a commander became a post-captain, there was no impediment to the highest rank except for a very long list of senior officers. Captains themselves were listed in order of

  seniority. When there was a vacancy for a rear-admiral, it was filled from the head of the list. Beyond that, there were prospects of becoming vice-admiral, and even admiral of the fleet. In 1794,

  there were 425 captains, each waiting long and hopefully to move into the place of the man above him. By 1815, the captains’ list had grown to double that length, making promotion a long and

  discouraging process. However, a man might console himself by scanning the names of casualties after each glorious victory, and then doing a little simple arithmetic.




  Hope deferred and prizes withheld inevitably tarnished the enthusiasm with which many officers had gone to war. Sir John Barrow wrote angrily to the Admiralty in 1810 that French ships were

  coming inshore at night and seizing English merchant vessels just off the coast of Kent. The commander of the Royal Navy brig, who was supposed to afford them protection, had evidently had his fill

  of war by dinner time. He was in the habit of anchoring his ship, retiring to his house at Birchington for a comfortable night’s sleep, and leaving the French to do as they pleased. His

  motive was something more than cowardice or indolence. An entire Royal Navy squadron actually witnessed one seizure, under the eyes of the local population, and did nothing to prevent it. As the

  French ship made off with her prize, wrote Barrow, “it is mortifying enough to hear people publicly crying out, ‘Aye, this is what we get for paying taxes to keep up the navy; a French

  privateer is not worth capturing, she will not pay the charges of condemnation.’”31




  The commander of the squadron, like the captain of the single brig, had learnt the hard lesson that French raiding vessels were too expensive to capture. A small privateer would not even cover

  the costs in the Admiralty court, so that the victors themselves would have to pay for their valour out of their own pockets. However, the captain who slept ashore may also have fortified himself

  with the example of Admiral Thomas Matthews, half a century before, who had contrived to spend eighteen years on his country estate without once going to sea.




  The reputation of the navy in the war of 1793–1815 reached peaks at the time of great individual victories and then declined as the public mind grew more preoccupied by the horrors of the

  press gang and the lash. Pressing, as it was called, had become the only means by which a nation of fifteen million could sustain an expanding naval war to contain Napoleon. Yet the consequences of

  the system led to encounters between British ships, in full view of their countrymen, during which they fought one another as vigorously as they fought the French.




  In one such incident, just off Gravesend, the Royal Navy’s Immortalité sent two boatloads of men, fully armed, to seize enough men from the East India Company’s

  Woodford and Ganges to make up their complement. As the men of the Immortalité attempted to scale the steep, curving sides of the other

  ships, they were met by a fusilade of shot and missiles, and threatened by the cutlasses of the East India crews if they advanced further. When the lieutenant of the party sent against the

  Woodford saw that one of his men had had his foot nailed to the bottom of the long-boat by a pike, he ordered his marines to open fire. Two of the Woodford’s crew were shot

  dead, but the resistance to the boarding parties continued until the Royal Navy at last withdrew with its wounded. The lieutenant of the long-boat was indicted for murder, though acquitted at

  Maidstone Assizes. Even so, such public skirmishes in the Thames estuary were hardly calculated to boost the nation’s enthusiasm for its senior service.32




  In the navy which young Lord Cochrane now joined, there were even more bizarre aspects of the pressing system. When, for instance, the bands of the Victory played, “Britons,

  Strike Home!” as she sailed into battle at Trafalgar, the sentiments must have sounded a little incongruous to those eighty-two foreigners who made up an important part of the

  flagship’s crew. There were twenty-eight Americans on the Victory on that occasion, as well as Frenchmen, Africans, and Indians. It was commonplace for men from neutral ships to be

  pressed. The American government was foremost in condemning the British for pressing its sailors, while the British swore that American ships were spiriting away shirkers Who wished to avoid their

  patriotic duty as true-born Englishmen.




  Many French and Spanish seamen also chose to serve with their captors rather than to spend the rest of a long war rotting in Dartmoor or one of England’s other prisons. But Lieutenant

  Thomas Hodgskin was determined to enlighten the “apparent ignorance” of the public by revealing that foreigners, American or European, were by no means the most unlikely conscripts for

  the Royal Navy. “I knew Africans, who had been stolen from Africa, taken in a slave-ship, afterwards cloathed, on board a guard-ship, and, without being able to speak a word of English, sent

  to man the British fleet. . . . Such a thing is a burlesque upon a national defence.”33




  Thomas Cochrane, like almost all contemporary naval officers, accepted that pressing was a necessary evil during the critical years of the war against France. Even after 1815, there were many

  figures of influence who took offence when the system was criticised. In 1822, Captain Marryat had rashly published his Suggestions for the Abolition of Impressment. Some years later, he

  had occasion to seek permission from William IV to wear a French order conferred on him by Louis XVIII and, at the same time, to seek promotion. The King, having been Lord

  High Admiral as Duke of Clarence, took a keen interest when the request was forwarded to him.




  “Marryat! Marryat!” said the old King suspiciously. “By-the-by, is not that the man who wrote a book against the impressment of seamen?”




  “The same, your majesty.”




  “Then he shan’t wear the order, and he shall have nothing!”34




  The popular view of the naval discipline awaiting the victims of the press gang was conditioned by the grim reputation of figures like “Old Jarvie”, as Lord St Vincent was known. In

  one cameo, his hard-set and weatherbeaten old face watched with stern satisfaction the expiring struggles of a mutineer dangling at the yard-arm. As the struggles ceased, St Vincent turned to his

  companion, raised his hat in salute to the ceremony rather than to the man who had died, and said confidently:




  “Discipline is preserved, sir!”35




  Surgeon Cullen, one of his critics, denounced him as “haughty and imperious, rigidly and unnecessarily strict . . . which made him very much disliked by his captains and officers”.

  But the dour old admiral had also sailed through the famous battle of Cape St Vincent, immovable on the poop of the Victory, unshaken even by the blood and brains of a marine blown in his

  face, as he continued sucking an orange.36




  For all his harshness, St Vincent showed a resolve and an independence of mind which was lacking in lesser men. Admiral Sir John Duckworth, for instance, was regarded as brute and sycophant by

  men who served under him. “Old Tommy”, as he was called, was loathed without reservation. William Richardson, a gunner on H.M.S, Tromp, recalled Lieutenant Byam of that ship

  being so habitually drunk that “he staggered so that the quarterdeck was hardly large enough to hold him”. Duckworth summoned him to the flagship, where he learnt that Byam was related

  to a family of considerable political influence. He at once gave the drunken lieutenant command of a ship and, to no one’s surprise, Duckworth received a knighthood in his turn.37




  Duckworth’s brutality appeared when, after prolonged and repeated reefing of the sails on H.M.S. Castor, the men dared to descend to the deck, cheer ironically, and go below.

  Duckworth tried the four ringleaders of this “mutiny”, sentencing three to be flogged and the other to be hanged. Christmas Day 1801 being at hand, he chose that for the execution. The

  knot was placed under the man’s chin, prolonging his sufferings until he struggled so wildly that it slipped round to the side of his neck and ended his life. The

  season of good will continued on Boxing Day with two floggings of three hundred lashes and one of five hundred.38




  A dramatic consequence of such discipline was seen in the loss of Royal Navy ships like the Africaine, the Hermione and the Danae. The crew of the Hermione

  murdered their officers in 1797 and sought sanctuary in Spain, while the men of the Africaine, when boarded by the enemy, refused to fight anyone but their own captain, who was cut down in

  the skirmish. Before sailing, they had petitioned the Admiralty for his removal, offering to serve for a year without pay under some other commander.39




  However, these incidents were as exceptional as they were sensational. The attention of most men was taken up by such mundane matters as food and drink. Corned beef and biscuits, wine and water,

  made up much of the diet in ships of the Atlantic squadrons. The beef, reported young Bernard Coleridge, had been ten or eleven years in the corn. The biscuits felt like cool calves’ foot

  jelly or blancmange when swallowed because of the number of maggots in them. The water was the colour of pear tree bark “with plenty of little maggots and weevils in it”, while the wine

  tasted like a mixture of sawdust and bull’s blood. For all these shortcomings, Bernard Coleridge was still lucky not to be on a ship which ran short of water, however unpalatable the supply

  might seem. When the level fell low, the butts were closed up except for a hole at the top with a musket barrel in it. Any man wanting a drink was obliged to suck it up through the barrel. A

  further deterrent to unnecessary drinking was to keep the butt at the masthead. A man had first to go aloft, carry the butt down to the deck to drink, and then replace it at the masthead once

  more.40




  Officers fared better than their men in matters of diet, particularly on the larger ships of the line, the battleships of the Napoleonic period. Yet officers and men alike had an interest in the

  safety of the ship. As war approached, there were astute men of business, with no particular interest in shipping, who would buy up the most unseaworthy vessels as cheaply as possible. They knew

  that when hostilities commenced, these could be hired out to the Admiralty for £400 a month, their owners recouping the purchase price two or three times in a year by this practice.




  Whether England’s warships were hired or purpose-built, many of the nation’s heroes found themselves in what were euphemistically described as “wet ships”, a term applied

  to vessels which let the sea through their timbers at a disquieting rate. During the blockade of Toulon in 1796, St Vincent informed the Navy Board that many of his ships

  were “a complete sieve, from the poop to the orlop deck, both in the decks and the sides; repaired as they are with planks of Pomeranian and Holstein growth, the water runs through them like

  a porous dripping-stone”. William Richardson, who lived as an ordinary seaman on the orlop deck, confirmed this. “Our ship was so leaky . . . that we had seldom a dry bed to lie on, and

  frequently shipping a great deal of water the decks were never dry.” Proof of this was clear when the ship returned to Spithead. “The ship being so continually wet the green grass was

  growing on her sides and on her decks under the gun-carriages.”41




  The pervasive damp turned bruises into ulcers and brought all manner of ailments to Richardson’s comrades. But still there were other men who suffered worse fates in order that the

  shipbuilders might profit. The new war meant good business for the Royal Dockyards and, particularly, for the private yards to which about two-thirds of the contracts went. A careful builder could

  charge £9 or £10 a ton for a ship which only cost him £3 or £4 a ton to build. There were, of course, drawbacks. Poor quality timber had to be used to make such economies

  and, in bad cases, while the final work was being completed on the slipway, the first timbers had already rotted. Far more dramatic, however, were the economies made on the main bolts which,

  literally, held a ship together. When the vessel was inspected, all the bolts appeared to be in place, but in some cases it was only “the tops and points” of the expensive copper shafts

  which ornamented the hull. Some crews escaped the consequences of this, but other ships disintegrated at sea, the loss of the York, the Blenheim, and the near-loss of the

  Albion being attributed to this fraud. St Vincent, writing to Lord Spencer from his flagship in 1797, remarked, “You may rest assured, the Civil Branch of the Navy is rotten to the

  very core.” He later insisted that “Our dockyards stink of corruption.” To the victims or their comrades, they also stank of murder.42




  The scale of administrative corruption in the navy which young Thomas Cochrane entered was so vast that it seems remarkable that England ever got a fleet to sea. At critical moments, such as

  trying to heave a stranded ship off a shoal by means of a kedge-anchor, it would be discovered that the cables provided were anything up to 90 feet short of the stated length because of economies

  practised by the dockyard manufacturers. When confronted with this, the officers of the rope-yard replied in pious unanimity that it was nothing to do with them. The cables

  must have “shrunk” when they were coiled up.43




  More generally, the same work was charged for many times over, and wages drawn for men or children who did no work and, for that matter, rarely went near the dockyard. In less than eighteen

  months, the cooperage at Woolwich dockyard charged £3670 for work whose value was £264. Among the skilled craftsmen who were paid for these labours was a blind and elderly man who

  received £120 a year for allowing himself to be led to the dockyard from time to time.44




  Far from diminishing one’s admiration for the victors of the Nile, or Trafalgar, or the Glorious First of June, the revelation of such practices enhances their reputation still further.

  They triumphed not only over the enemy abroad but over the enemy at home as well. To keep pace with war and embezzlement, the money voted for the navy rose from four million pounds in 1793 to

  fifteen million in the year of Trafalgar, and to twenty million by the time of Waterloo. St Vincent, as First Lord of the Admiralty, won the reluctant approval of the government for a Commission of

  Naval Enquiry into frauds and abuses. But the Commission’s reports merely confirmed what most people had already guessed. Up to a quarter of the annual budget for the navy had disappeared

  into the pockets of those who contrived the frauds and abuses.




  Predictably, men who had political influence or held offices of state were milking the revenues quite as assiduously as their rivals in private commerce. An admiral would retire with a pension

  of £410 a year, a post-captain with £210. But the fortunate sycophant who held the post of “clerk of the ticket office” at the Admiralty retired with £700 a year. The

  total sum paid to thirteen widows and orphans of admirals and captains killed in battle was less than the pension paid to one widow of one Admiralty commissioner. Cochrane himself noticed with

  interest that for eight years after the death of his grandmother, she having been the widow of a naval captain and in receipt of a widow’s pension, “some patriotic individual had been

  drawing her pension, as though she were still living!” Dean Inge’s description of politics as the art of transferring the contents of one’s opponents’ pockets to

  those of one’s supporters was seldom truer than during this period. It was calculated, for instance, that the sinecure payments to the Duke of Buckingham would have financed the entire supply

  departments at Chatham, Dover, Gibraltar, Sheerness, the Downs, Heligoland, Cork, Malta, the Mediterranean, the Cape of Good Hope, Rio de Janeiro, and would still have left

  more than £5000 in the Treasury. The majority of Royal Navy officers put such things firmly from their minds and steered hopefully for glory. None the less, it must have occurred to many of

  them to wonder what would happen if ever there should be a young commander of audacity and tactical brilliance who chose to fight the enemy at home as well as the enemy at sea. With the advent of

  Lord Thomas Cochrane, the answer to such speculation was about to be provided.45
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  H.M.S. Hind was a far cry from the ships which gripped the patriotic imagination in 1793. The popular image was of the mighty leviathans of 90 or 120 guns, the bronze

  mouths of the cannon towering in successive ranks to guard the black fortress of the hull. There was an almost baroque splendour in the upper decks, ornate with white and gold, and the curve of the

  great sails against the sky.




  Ships like the Hind were a different matter. She carried a single tier of guns, twenty-eight in all, and they were 9-pounders, against the 32-pounders of the great battlefleets. Even by

  the standards of the frigates, she was not powerfully armed. Instead of the ornate white and gold, her hull was topped off with acid-yellow. Regardless of appearances, however, it was the

  Hind or ships of her type which carried on the day-to-day business of war against France for the next twenty-two years.




  For most contemporaries, the sight of England’s warships, anchored offshore in deeper water, was their closest acquaintance with naval life. The distance was a necessary one and was made

  more significant by the boats which rowed in careful circles round the anchored vessels. With their scarlet tunic’d Royal Marines, long-barrelled muskets at the ready, these were the

  guard-boats, intended to dissuade volunteers and pressed men alike from trying to slip through an open port and swim for home.




  When Cochrane and his luggage were rowed out from the shore in a bum-boat, it was the duty of the midshipman of the watch to direct the little harbour craft to the entry port of the

  Hind. The captain of the frigate happened to be his uncle, Alexander Cochrane, which was the young man’s only asset in joining her. Captain Cochrane was not on board at that moment,

  but his nephew was required to report himself to the quarterdeck like any other newly-arrived midshipman.




  More than sixty years later, his first moments on the Hind remained one of the most vivid impressions of his life. He reached the quarterdeck, its surface

  holystoned to a wooden pallor and smelling strongly of pitch with which the caulkers repaired the decking of a ship in port. Having been told to report to the lieutenant of the Hind, Jack

  Larmour, he naturally expected to find him there. There was no one there but a common seaman, “with marlinspike slung round his neck, and a lump of grease in his hand”. The man was

  “busily employed in setting up the rigging”. The young Lord Cochrane interrupted him and asked where he might find Lieutenant Larmour. The seaman with the lump of grease and the

  marlinspike explained that he was Lieutenant Larmour, improbable though it might seem. “His reception of me,” wrote Cochrane, “was anything but

  gracious.”1




  There were reasons for Larmour’s hostility, as Cochrane discovered. “A tall fellow over six feet high, the nephew of his captain, and a lord to boot, were not very promising

  recommendations.” It was worse than that, because though Cochrane was a lord, his father was nothing but a crotchety and bankrupt old Scottish earl, in the eyes of the world. A young lord

  without money was the worst proposition of all for his comrades. It also seemed that Larmour had heard of the regimental fiasco and of the way in which the aspiring naval hero had run home to his

  father because he had been laughed at by rude boys near Charing Cross.




  Larmour was irritated by the interruption, according to Cochrane, and annoyed at having been “saddled with a hard bargain”. He gave the young man his first naval order.




  “Get your traps below!”




  The ship’s boys carried the new midshipman’s luggage down to the twilight of the gun-deck, where the marines also stood guard by the open ports to frustrate any of the pressed men

  who tried to stow away in the returning harbour-craft and supply-boats. For a young man of Cochrane’s height, the headroom below deck was so little that he was never to be able to stand

  upright. But his berth was further down in the hull, below the gun-deck, in the communal accommodation for all midshipmen.




  At that level, there was almost total darkness, the little light that there was filtering down through the gratings of the decks above. The midshipmen, like the seamen, lived below the

  waterline, where even in the brightest summer day it was impossible to see clearly without a “purser’s moon”, as candles were known.




  The single berth of the midshipmen was lined with shelves on to which all personal possessions, food and clothing, were crammed. It was commonly stocked with plates,

  glasses, cutlery, combs, hats, quadrants, salt-butter and whatever other supplements to the ship’s diet the men had managed to bring with them. During the day, the berth was almost filled by

  the table at which the midshipmen dined. By night, the “cots” of canvas stretched on wood were slung from hooks in the beams. There was, of course, no such thing as bed linen or

  blankets unless the new arrival had brought some of his own.




  Cochrane’s innocence of living conditions on board ship was such that he had brought a considerable quantity of luggage with him. Among this was a sea chest, so imposing that it would

  literally not fit into the berth. As an old man, he still remembered the voice of Lieutenant Larmour behind him, at the door of the berth where the uniformed marine stood guard.




  “This Lord Cochrane’s chest? Does Lord Cochrane think he is going to bring a cabin aboard? The service is going to the devil! Get it up on the main deck!”




  The sea chest disappeared and, presently, Cochrane followed it to see what had happened. He saw to his astonishment that under Lieutenant Larmour’s orders, one of the seamen was sawing

  open an end of it and that some of his possessions were already scattered about the deck. As Cochrane appeared, Larmour explained brusquely to him that it had been found necessary to saw the chest

  in half owing to “the lubberliness of shore-going people in not making keyholes where they could be most easily got at”.2




  If it seemed to Cochrane that he had entered a world ruled by lunatic logic and peopled by grotesques, there were further and stranger surprises in store. As the midshipmen assembled by

  candlelight for their afternoon tea, he discovered that all of them were not younger than he was. If a midshipman failed to pass for lieutenant, he remained a midshipman. In one crowded berth there

  were boys of ten and men in early middle age, known as “oldsters”, who would be midshipmen until death parted them from their profession. The shore-bound moralists who feared that the

  drunkenness and debauchery of the “oldsters” might corrupt the young boys were entirely correct. Reticence and decency were not characteristics of life among a couple of hundred men

  cooped up for months at a time on a ship hardly more than a hundred feet long. Even men who were wasted to skeletons by venereal disease still boasted of what they would do if they lived until the

  next port of call. “I’ll get well soon,” shouted one dying man, “time enough at any rate by the time we go to Malta, and then I’ll have

  another rattle at a bitch of a whore!”3




  The bullying of “youngsters” by “oldsters” in the midshipmen’s berth was more fearful than the moral example. It generally took the form of “cobbing” in

  which the victim was held down and beaten black and blue with a stocking filled with wet sand. Cochrane, as the captain’s nephew, was a risky subject for such treatment. Instead he shared the

  ordeal of the menu, eaten at a table whose cloth was rarely changed and bore the marks of several weeks’ dinners. At the worst, the diet might be small beer and ship’s biscuit, at the

  best there would be potatoes and beef. While the ship was at anchor off Sheerness, the meals could be supplemented by bread, butter, and fruit sold by a woman who came out with the bum-boat and sat

  with her wares around her on the main deck. Midshipmen removed their coats to eat and rolled their sleeves up, so that both the coats and shirt-cuffs would remain unmarked when they next appeared

  on deck.




  In the summer heat, conditions on the orlop deck, below the waterline, were appalling. The officers slept above but the orlop contained the crew, as well as the midshipmen. A hundred men or more

  slept at intervals of just over two feet, while even the gun-ports on the deck above them were kept strictly closed. Long before morning, the air was fetid and hot. Even those who might, none the

  less, have fallen asleep from exhaustion were apt to be woken at midnight and 4 a.m. by the shouts and clattering as the new watch turned out.




  Cochrane’s close acquaintance, as a midshipman, with the men he was later to command, instilled in him an understanding and admiration for them. None of them, however, made a greater

  impression on him than Lieutenant Jack Larmour, one of those rare officers who had risen from the ranks. A few days later, at the command “All hands to unmoor ship!” the Hind

  slipped away from her anchorage into the obscurity of the North Sea, seeking out French privateers who might harry Britain’s Baltic trade by sallying out from the fiords of Norway. It was a

  fruitless reconnaissance, except for Cochrane who set himself to learn from Larmour the practical crafts of seamanship, which most officers considered beneath their dignity to investigate.

  Cochrane, like Larmour himself, despised those young officers wished on the navy by “parliamentary influence”. Such men became first the sycophants of an admiral’s flagship and

  then, more disastrously, commanders of ships in their own right. But, as Larmour pointed out, parliamentary influence had never got a ship off the rocks of a lee shore.




  When the Hind returned from her reconnaissance, Larmour and the new midshipman were transferred to the Thetis, bound from Plymouth to North America with Admiral Murray’s

  squadron. Cochrane’s apprenticeship continued. “We soon became fast friends,” he then recalled, “and throughout life few more kindly recollections are impressed on my memory

  than those of my first naval instructor, honest Jack Larmour.”4




  For a young man whose advancement depended on prize money, North America was as unpromising as the North Sea. But Larmour’s tuition had given Cochrane a skill which marked him out from the

  other midshipmen. Admiral Murray was impressed and, though Cochrane had not yet been in the service long enough to “pass for lieutenant”, the admiral appointed him an acting-lieutenant

  on the Thetis in January 1795. A cruise as acting-lieutenant on H.M.S. Africa followed this and by the beginning of 1796, at twenty years old, Cochrane was eligible to be examined

  for substantive promotion. The time had come round quickly in his case because of the early date at which his uncle Alexander had entered his name on the books of several ships.




  The examination took place while Murray’s force was patrolling off Nova Scotia. Launches from the other ships, bearing young men whose blue coats and cocked hats were carefully brushed and

  whose breeches were immaculately white, converged on the flagship Resolution. A candidate was required to bring his log books and certificates of conduct, and would probably have a copy of

  Moore’s Navigation, or a similar volume for last minute consultation while waiting to go before the examining board.




  The oral examination was carried out by three senior captains. They assembled in the stern cabin of the flagship, sitting in judgement at their table with a clerk to one side of them. If some

  midshipmen felt more like criminals facing prosecution than candidates in an examination, the setting certainly reinforced the impression.




  Like other candidates, Cochrane handed over his log books and certificates of conduct for the board’s perusal. There followed standard questions in trigonometry and navigation, which were

  no real problem to a midshipman who had read his textbooks. It was the second part of the examination which unnerved and defeated most of them. The young man was told to imagine himself in command

  of a vessel in a particular location and under certain weather conditions. Various hazards were then thrown in his way by the questioners, and he was required to give

  instant answers as to the action he would take. Delay meant theoretical shipwreck and actual failure in the examination. But when the captains, sitting at their table, came to Cochrane they were

  dealing with a young man who had more than a year’s practical experience as acting-lieutenant. This, at least, was some defence against them as they strove to dismast him, run him aboard

  another vessel, or wreck him on their own carefully contrived rocks.5




  Thanks to Jack Larmour’s practical instruction and his own ability to think quickly, young Lord Cochrane survived the perils of the examiners’ imagined storm. Other midshipmen

  emerged crestfallen from the great cabin, their reputations smashed on the rocks of Beachy Head or stranded on the Goodwin Sands. Cochrane, instead of being told to do six more months at sea and

  try again, left the Resolution with a lieutenant’s commission.




  It was Admiral Vandeput, Murray’s successor, who appointed Cochrane as a lieutenant on the Resolution for a brief period. Cruising the waters from the St Lawrence to Chesapeake

  Bay, Vandeput found little sign of the French or the war and the Resolution settled down to an agreeable social routine.




  Cochrane’s first dinner was in the captain’s dining cabin, a spacious room in the stern of the vessel with large square-paned windows overlooking the sea. Its elegant furnishings and

  studied ritual seemed a world away from the life of the orlop deck, twenty feet below. As the braided and cock-hatted officers walked the deck before dinner, the Royal Marine band piped “The

  Roast Beef of Old England” to summon them to their food. The sunlight, reflected through the stern windows by the shifting sea, caught the polished silver and finely-wrought glass. Dinners of

  this sort began at about 3 p.m. and lasted for the best part of two hours, several courses and a number of wines being consumed.




  Cochrane noted, however, that the “leading motive” of a seaman was “prize money”, and it was never more true than in his own case. The social pleasantries on board the

  Resolution hardly masked his ravenous need of this extra income. To make matters worse, Vandeput and his well-heeled officers decided that, when winter came, there was no point in resuming

  patrols until the spring. The admiral dropped anchor in Chesapeake Bay and went ashore to a large house which he had rented. Parties of officers joined him for shooting and hunting. As Cochrane remarked, it was fortunate for the admiral that the Virginians “retained their affection for England, her habits, and customs. Even the innkeeper of the

  place contrived to muster a tolerable pack of hounds”. Admiral Vandeput, whose particular fetish was very tall girls, was also in pursuit of the Misses Tabbs, each more than six feet

  high.6




  During the boisterous dinner parties and the enforced gaiety, Cochrane brooded over the war he was missing and denounced the government of toadies and placemen who had lost England’s

  colonies for her. He believed that the United Colonies meant what they said in 1775, “that on the concession of their just demands, ‘the colonies are to return to their former

  connections and friendship with Great Britain’”. Might not a more democratic and reformist government in Britain have prevented the great schism?7




  Among such thoughts came the announcement that H.M.S. Thetis was to return to England. His companions behaved with tolerant amusement towards the tall anxious “Sawney” with

  his mop of red hair and his unpredictable sentiments. But since he seemed so desperate for a chance to fight, he was sent back across the Atlantic with the Thetis. His orders were to

  proceed with Admiral Keith’s flagship from Plymouth to Gibraltar, for the great battle of the Mediterranean had just begun.




  The Mediterranean had not been the scene of many British victories between 1793 and 1797. To blockade the major ports of Toulon, Cadiz and Brest, in order to prevent the escape

  of French battle-fleets and wholesale slaughter among British convoys to the West Indies, had proved an intolerable strain on the Royal Navy’s resources. By 1796, the British had abandoned

  the bases at Leghorn, and Corsica, pulling back to Gibraltar and concentrating along the Atlantic coasts of France and Spain. Corsica had been occupied at the start of the war. There had even been

  the portentous possibility that, on his father’s advice, the young Napoleon Buonaparte was to volunteer for the Royal Navy.




  The turning point in the history of the Mediterranean war came on 14 February 1797 in the Atlantic battle of Cape St Vincent. Admiral Jervis dealt a costly blow to the Spanish, prevented their

  rendezvous with the French to support an invasion of Ireland, and won himself the title of Earl St Vincent. Among the cheers of victory, the British commanders returned to the Mediterranean, St

  Vincent in command with Nelson and Keith as his assistants. Minorca was taken in 1798 and the base at Malta re-established. Brest and Cadiz were mere blockades, but the

  Mediterranean promised a running fight.




  Cochrane’s superior, Lord Keith, was a youngish commander, inclined to keep his thoughts and opinions to himself. He appeared to encourage Cochrane’s enterprise and daring, though he

  attacked his character without mercy in private correspondence. Lord St Vincent, who was so often to be Cochrane’s opponent, was still at Gibraltar, a caricaturist’s portrait of

  advancing age, the flushed and pear-shaped head settling forward on the breast, the body crippled and swollen by dropsy. He received Cochrane with courtesy, however, and confirmed his appointment

  on Keith’s flagship, H.M.S. Barfleur.
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